FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/6/2024 1:44 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

(COA No. 85636-7)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVE HORVATH,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

DBIA SERVICES DBA METROPOLITAN IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT,

Respondent/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joe Shaeffer, WSBA #33273 Anika R. Ades, WSBA #60298 MacDONALD HOAGUE & BAYLESS 705 2nd Avenue, Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-1604

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

I. INTRODUCTION

The four factors set forth in *Telford v. Thurston Cnty. Bd. of Comms.*, 95 Wn. App. 149, 974 P.2d 886 (1999), to determine whether an agency is subject to the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56 et seq. ("PRA"), are all factual inquiries. Weighing these factors in any given case to determine whether an agency is covered by the PRA is a classic question of law, however, is reviewed de novo. Despite this, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's decision on summary judgment is subject to an abuse of discretion standard on review.

The Court of Appeals decision did not say whether the "discretion" is in making factual findings or making the legal determination of whether the specific agency is subject to the PRA. But both are wrong. Courts have no discretion to make factual findings on summary judgment. Their role at that stage is to determine whether material facts are genuinely in dispute; if yes, then they are to deny summary judgment. If no, then they are to decide whether the agency at issue is subject to the PRA—a legal decision that has one correct answer. Whether an entity is subject to the PRA cannot vary from case to case, and so this decision does not depend on the exercise of discretion. That is why innumerable cases have held that, regardless of whether "weighing" is involved, summary judgment decisions are reviewable de novo.

The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with those decisions, muddying the water and confusing a basic and clearly established rule of appellate law. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). Correcting the Court of Appeals' published opinion adopting the wrong legal standard is a matter of significant public interest, not only as to Public Records Act cases but also in other areas of law in which courts decide liability by applying multifactor tests.

This Court should accept discretionary review, reverse the published order of the Court of Appeals applying an abuse of discretion standard, and remand with instructions to apply the de novo standard when reviewing trial court decisions on legal questions about liability on summary judgment, consistent with longstanding precedent.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Steve Horvath was the Plaintiff/Appellant in the proceedings below. He requested documents from DBIA Services in its capacity as program manager of the Metropolitan Improvement District ("MID") under the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56 *et seq.* as the functional equivalent of a public agency under *Telford*, 95 Wn. App. 149. He sued when DBIA Services denied his request for records on the claimed ground that the MID was not the functional equivalent of a public agency.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on July 8, 2024. *Horvath v. DBIA Services*, ____ Wn. App. 2d ____ (2024). Appendix A.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Are trial orders granting summary judgment based on multifactor legal tests subject to de novo review on appeal, or review for abuse of discretion?

This is a frequently recurring appellate issue on which the published decision below conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and other Courts of Appeals. *See, e.g., Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo*, 187 Wn.2d 509, 518, 387 P.3d 690 (2017); *Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter*, 144 Wn. App. 185, 191, 181 P.3d 881 (2008). Review is therefore appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant Steve Horvath lives in downtown Seattle. As such, Mr. Horvath is required to pay an annual "assessment" to the City of Seattle, equivalent to a tax, through which the City funds various governmental functions and municipal improvements. CP 407. These assessments are provided to the Metropolitan Improvement District ("MID"), a business improvement area ("BIA") in Downtown Seattle created by Seattle City Ordinance and funded almost entirely by public money. DBIA Services ("DBIA"), which does business as the MID, is a

private nonprofit organization that serves as the sole program manager for the MID. CP 610, CP 416.

As a resident of a ratepayer condominium, Mr. Horvath contributes to his condominium's assessments. He wanted to learn how his money was being spent so he submitted a public records request to the City of Seattle seeking various records, including compensation information for employees paid using MID funds. CP 368. The City directed him to the MID, to which he re-submitted his request. *Id.*; CP 379–80. The MID produced most records, *see e.g.* CP 382, but ultimately withheld compensation records, claiming that "as a private entity, we do not believe our compensation information is subject to public dissemination." CP 394.

The City of Seattle, through public Ordinance No. 124175, created the MID, designated DBIA as the program manager for the MID, and set forth the MID's programming, services, funding system, governance structure, and work plan. *See* CP 41 (1999 Ordinance), CP 403–456, CP 567–79 (2004, 2013, and 2023 re-authorizations). As MID program manager, DBIA performs a broad range of traditional governmental functions, including sanitation services, street cleaning, parks and recreation management, and public safety efforts. *See* CP 135 ("MID-funded downtown ambassadors work seven days a week, 362 days a year, providing: cleaning, including

graffiti and biohazard removal; safety, outreach and hospitality services; maintenance of public infrastructure; park/public space event management and operations [services]"); CP 137 (trash removal, graffiti removal, and welfare checks on unhoused individuals). In particular, DBIA contracts directly with the Seattle Police Department to provide emphasis patrols on Seattle's streets, sidewalks, and roadways within the boundaries of the MID. CP 430; CP 483.

The MID is funded through mandatory ratepayer assessments collected by the City of Seattle, held in a MID City of Seattle treasury account, and disbursed by the City of Seattle directly to DBIA for broad categories of expenditures. CP 400–01. Nonpayment or delinquent payment of assessments is enforced by the City Hearing Examiner. CP 413–14.

Because the MID was created by the City of Seattle, is funded by public assessments, performs traditional governmental functions, and is subject to extensive public oversight, it is the functional equivalent of a public agency under the *Telford* test, and is therefore subject to Washington's PRA even though its program manager DBIA Services is a privately incorporated nonprofit organization.

Contrary to this reasoning, the trial court determined on cross-motions for summary judgment that DBIA is not subject to the PRA under the

Telford factors. CP 734–746. Division I of the Court of Appeals adopted the trial court's reasoning without conducting de novo review, holding that because the *Telford* test is a multifactor test, the trial court's determination was reviewable under the abuse of discretion standard. App'x A. As a result, the Court of Appeals affirmed largely by adopting extensive quotes from the trial court as reasonable. *Id*.

In this case, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong legal standard.

Under the proper de novo review standard required by longstanding

precedent, the Court of Appeals should have found that DBIA Services d/b/a

the MID is the functional equivalent of a government agency. Therefore,

Petitioner asks this Court to accept review, reverse the Court of Appeal's

application of the wrong standard of review.

A. Procedural History

In November 2022, Mr. Horvath filed a Complaint pursuant to the PRA alleging that the MID violated the PRA when it refused to produce records because the MID is the functional equivalent of a public agency. CP 1–10. Defendant answered the Complaint and asserted a counterclaim for declaratory relief. CP 11–28.

The parties stipulated to file cross-motions for summary judgment.

The trial court heard argument on the motions for summary judgment on

June 16, 2023. CP 1–58.

On July 10, 2023, the trial court granted DBIA's motion for summary judgment, finding that DBIA is not the functional equivalent of a government agency subject to the PRA under the *Telford* test. CP 734–746. Mr. Horvath timely appealed. On July 8, 2024, Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed, reasoning that the trial court had not abused its discretion in finding the PRA did not apply. App'x A.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Division I's Decision Conflicts with Decades of Washington State Precedent Holding that Summary Judgment Orders are Reviewed De Novo.

The Court of Appeals applied the wrong legal standard when it deferred to the trial court's discretion. Under the proper de novo review standard required by longstanding precedent the Court of Appeals should have found that DBIA Services d/b/a the MID is the functional equivalent of a government agency.

1. The Court of Appeals Decision Should Be Reversed Because Appellate Courts Review Summary Judgment Decisions De Novo.

It is well-settled that Washington courts "review summary judgment orders de novo, considering the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) (citing Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)); Suarez v. State, Wn.2d , No. 101386-8, 2024 Wash. LEXIS 372 at *10 (Wash. Sup. Ct. July 25, 2024) ("The court reviews summary judgment decision de novo") (citing Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002)). In Folsom, the Supreme Court announced that the de novo review standard applies to "all trial court rulings made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion." Folsom, 135 Wn.2d at 663; see also Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 148 Wn.2d 788, 794–95, 64 P.3d 22 (2003) ("Appellate review of summary judgment is de novo"); Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 528, 530, 503 P.2d 108 (1972). Incorrectly applying an abuse of discretion standard rather than the de novo standard is grounds for reversal. See e.g., Spohn v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 17 Wn. App. 2d 805, 810, 488 P.3d 889 (2021).

Courts of Appeal review a trial court's order on summary judgment de novo where the order on summary judgment decides liability. *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). In reviewing a

summary judgment order, the Courts of Appeal engage in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Id.*; *Chamberlain v. Dep't of Transp.*, 79 Wn. App. 212, 215, •91 P.2d 344 (1995). In contrast, Courts of Appeal "review the *fashioning* of equitable remedies for an abuse of discretion because trial courts have 'broad discretionary power to fashion equitable remedies.'" *Borton & Sons v. Burbank Props.*, *LLC.*, 196 Wn.2d 199, 2•6, 471 P.3d 871 (2•2•) (quoting *In re Foreclosure of Liens*, 123 Wn.2d 197, 2•4, 867 P.2d 6•5 (1994)) (emphasis in original). However, the initial question of "whether equitable relief is appropriate is a question of law." *Niemann v. Vaughn Cmty. Church*, 154 Wn.2d 365, 374, 113 P.3d 463 (2••5).

The Court of Appeals' conclusion runs counter to Washington
Supreme Court precedent. In *Niemann v. Vaughn Community Church*, this
Court held that whether a litigant is entitled to equitable relief is a question
of law subject to de novo review. 154 Wn.2d at 374. The amount of the
remedy awarded, on the other hand, is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.*;
see also Pierce v. Bill & Melinda Gates Found., 15 Wn. App. 2d 419, 446–
47, 475 P.3d 1011 (2020) (whether a legal basis exists for awarding attorney
fees is reviewed de novo; in contrast, the amount of the attorney fee award is
reviewed for abuse of discretion). Here, the *Telford* test determines whether

the requestor is entitled to relief under the PRA. Finding liability is not a discretionary decision but a legal one.

In this case, the Court of Appeals deviated from this well-established precedent by applying the incorrect standard of review of the trial court's liability determination. The question presented to the trial court in this case was a legal one: whether DBIA Services d/b/a MID is the functional equivalent of a public agency under the PRA. If the answer to this question were affirmative, then Mr. Horvath would have prevailed and would have been entitled to the documents he had requested, as well as attorneys' fees and discretionary penalties. If the answer to this question were negative, then Mr. Horvath would not have been entitled to relief. Because the trial court's order determined liability, the Court of Appeals was required to engage in de novo review. Wilson, 98 Wn.2d at 437.

Instead, the Court of Appeals eschewed the de novo standard in favor of the abuse of discretion standard, reasoning, "asking a trial court to apply the 'functional equivalent' test constitutes a request for the trial court to exercise its discretion, the standard of review applicable to this question is that of abuse of discretion." App'x A at 10. As its basis for rejecting decades of precedent holding otherwise on the issue of liability, the Court of Appeals relied on precedent holding that the amount of PRA penalty awards and

attorney fees are subject to the abuse of discretion standard on appeal. *Id.* It was error to rely on this as precedent for the proposition that appellate review of whether a private entity is subject to the PRA—a question of liability, not the amount of a penalty awarded—should also be subject to the abuse of discretion standard.

1. Until The Court of Appeals Opinion in this Case, Courts in Washington Have Consistently Reviewed Trial Court Decisions Applying the Telford Factors De Novo.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals wrote, "in approving of the use of, and applying, the 'functional equivalent' test, neither our Supreme Court nor the three divisions of this court have substantially analyzed the question of the proper standard of review of a trial court's determination in reliance on that multifactor balancing test." App'x A at 13. This observation is incorrect. Until this decision, every Washington Court of Appeals that has evaluated entities under the *Telford* test has reviewed the trial court determination on summary judgment de novo because whether an entity is the functional equivalent of a public agency involves statutory interpretation and is thus a question of law:

• Telford v. Bd. of Comms., 95 Wn. App. 149, 157, 974 P.2d 886 (1999) ("We review the trial court's decision de novo").

- Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo, 187 Wn.2d 509, 518, 387 P.3d 690 (2017) ("Because this case presents both a question of statutory interpretation and a challenge to a summary judgment ruling, our review is de novo").
- Research & Dev. Fund v. Cmty. Dev. Ass'n, 133 Wn. App. 602, 605,
 137 P.3d 120 (2006) ("We review a summary judgment decision de novo, examining the record for any genuine material fact dispute.").
- Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter, 144 Wn. App.
 185, 191, 181 P.3d 881 (2008) ("Because statutory interpretation is a question of law, we review the trial court's legal conclusion de novo").
- Shavlik v. Dawson Place, 11 Wn. App. 2d 250, 254, 452 P.3d 1241 (2019) ("We review questions of statutory interpretation and summary judgment rulings de novo...").
- Wash. State Ass'n of Mun. Attys. v. Wash. Coalition for Open Gov't,
 No. 80266-6-I, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 3243, at *7 (Ct. App. Dec. 14, 2020) (same).
- Freedom Found. v. SEIU Healthcare Nw., Training P'ship, Nos.
 706319-9-I, 76325-3-I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2030, at *18 (Ct. App. Aug. 27, 2018) ("We review an order of summary judgment")

- dismissal de novo and engage in the same inquiry as the trial court...") (Quoting *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 518).
- McKee v. Paratransit Servs., 13 Wn. App. 2d 483, 488–89, 466 P.3d
 1135 (2020) ("We review a challenge to a summary judgment ruling de novo. . . . We also review issues of statutory interpretation de novo") (internal citations omitted)).

In this case, the Court of Appeals erred in applying the wrong legal standard. The Washington Supreme Court and each Division of the Courts of Appeals have consistently applied the de novo review standard to trial court decisions applying the *Telford* factors, until now.

B. Whether an Entity is the Functional Equivalent of a Public Agency under the *Telford* Test is a Question of Law Subject to De Novo Review on Appeal.

"The process of applying the law to the facts . . . is a question of law and is subject to de novo review." *Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). "Statutory interpretation is a question of law that we review de novo." *State v. Graham*, 181 Wn.2d 878, 882, 337 P.3d 319 (2014). Whether a private entity is the functional equivalent of a public agency subject to the PRA is a question of law. It is a binary inquiry. Either an entity is analogous to a public agency and is treated as such for purposes of the PRA or it is not. Just as with any other legal question,

whether a private entity is subject to the PRA has a "right" and "wrong" answer.

The PRA requires that "[e]ach agency, in accordance with published rules, shall make available for public inspection and copying all public records," unless those records fall within a specific exemption. RCW 42.52.070. The PRA defines "agency" as:

"Agency" includes all state agencies and all local agencies. "State agency" includes every state office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or other state agency. "Local agency" includes every county, city, town, municipal corporation, quasimunicipal corporation, or special purpose district, or any office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or agency thereof, or other local public agency.

RCW 42.56.010(1).

At issue in *Telford*, 95 Wn. App. 149, was whether a private entity could constitute an "other local public agency" within the meaning of RCW 42.56. • 1 • (1). Applying conventional tools of statutory construction and considering the legislature's intent in passing the Public Disclosure Act, the Court of Appeals in *Telford* held that private entities could be the functional equivalents of a public agency and thus fall within the statutory definition of "public agency." *Id.* at 157–59.

To guide this determination, Washington Courts adopted the functional equivalent test used by federal courts interpreting the Freedom of

Information Act ("FOIA") and the Connecticut Supreme Court interpreting Connecticut's public records law. *Id.* at 161-62. The Court of Appeals found that the use of a multifactor test "is consistent with Washington law that holds that the meaning of the term 'agency' as used in a statute depends upon the context in which it is used, not merely on the label given to an entity." *Id.* at 161 (citing *Graham v. Bar Ass'n*, 86 Wn. 2d 624, 626, 548 P.2d 310 (1976)). Because the *Telford* test is used to interpret the statutory term "agency," the *Telford* analysis is a question of statutory interpretation, and is therefore a question of law. *See State v. Graham*, 181 Wn.2d at 882.

But in this case, the Court of Appeals ruled "the question for the trial court in its 'agency' determination is a discretionary one, arising from the court's consideration of a multifactor balancing test." App'x A at 14. This conclusion is unsupportable. Although setting the amount of a penalty in a PRA case is a judgment call that requires the reasonable exercise of discretion, deciding whether an agency is covered by the PRA is a legal question with only one right answer. Allowing the exercise of discretion in penalty-setting and fee award amounts does not risk contradictory rulings between courts because the amounts awarded in each case depend on their unique facts and circumstances. However, allowing different judges to reach conflicting conclusions about whether the same entity is covered by the PRA

would mean the scope of the law itself could vary from judge to judge or court to court. Indeed, if left standing, the Court of Appeals ruling would mean that a private entity could find itself subject to the PRA before one trial judge but not another or in Division I but not in Division II, so long as neither trial court was found to have abused its discretion in determining the entity's malleable status under *Telford*.

Washington Courts use multifactor tests in many other contexts to interpret statutes and decide questions of law. If the Court of Appeals' published decision in this case is not reversed and remanded, other cases that use multifactor tests to determine legal questions may also be impacted by this ruling. Just because the legal determination is guided by a multifactor test does not render it discretionary. For example:

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