FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/2/2025 4:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

(COA No. 85636-7) 103339-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVE HORVATH,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

DBIA SERVICES d.b.a. METROPOLITAN IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT,

Respondent/Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FOSTER GARVEY PC

Adrian Urquhart Winder, WSBA No. 38071 Andrea L. Bradford, WSBA No. 45748 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 447-4400

Attorneys for Respondent DBIA Services

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

After receiving a citizen petition, the local legislative body adopts an ordinance to establish the PBIA, describing the PBIA boundaries, the rates of special assessments, and the "uses to which the special assessment revenue shall be put," which must be consistent with the uses declared in the citizen-initiated petition. RCW 35.87A.100.

Recognizing the central role of the private sector in the activities that PBIAs manage, the statute expressly provides that the local authority may contract with a separate business entity to administer the operation of the PBIA:

The legislative authority may contract with a chamber of commerce or other similar business association operating primarily within the boundaries of the legislative authority to administer the operation of a parking and business improvement area, including any funds derived pursuant thereto: PROVIDED, That such administration must comply with all applicable provisions of law including this chapter, with all county, city, or town resolutions and ordinances, and with all regulations lawfully imposed by the state auditor or other state agencies.

RCW 35.87A.110.

B. The Metropolitan Improvement District

The City of Seattle has 11 established PBIAs in neighborhoods such as Ballard, the University District,

Columbia City, SODO, and West Seattle.¹ One of these PBIAs is the Metropolitan Improvement District ("MID"). The MID was first formed in 1999 and was renewed in 2004, 2013, and in 2023, during this litigation. *See* CP 179, 563. The boundaries of the MID extend generally between Elliott Bay and Interstate 5 on the east and west; north to Denny Way; and south to the sports stadiums. CP 176. The MID's mission is "to provide comprehensive management tools and resources to enable downtown neighborhoods to collectively and efficiently address common problems and needs." CP 179.

In advance of the 2013 renewal of the MID, owners of 62 percent of the businesses, multi-family residential, and mixed-use properties within the MID filed a petition with the City to renew and expand the MID. CP 161. The City enacted Ordinance 124175 (the "Ordinance") to renew the MID for an

-

¹ See City of Seattle, Business Improvement Areas, https://www.seattle.gov/office-of-economic-development/business-districts/business-improvement-areas-.

additional ten years. CP 161. The Ordinance establishes the authority of the City, a Ratepayer Advisory Board, and a contracted Program Manager responsible for the day-to-day operations of the MID. *Id*.

1. The City of Seattle's Role

The City of Seattle's Director of the Department of Finance and Administrative Services administers the program for the City, with authority to collect assessments, calculate and collect interest, penalties, and processing fees for late payments, and accept and deposit advance payment of assessments and any donations. CP 173 § 16. The Director also has authority to contract for a Program Manager, with the recommendation of the Ratepayer Advisory Board. CP 172–73 §§ 15–17.

2. The Ratepayer Advisory Board

The Ratepayer Advisory Board is responsible for "adopting bylaws and policy guidelines, and for providing advice and consultation to the Director and to the Program Manager." CP 172 § 15. The Ratepayer Advisory Board is composed of

private citizens representative of the MID and its various property classifications. *Id*.

3. The Program Manager (DBIA)

Day-to-day operations of the MID are run by a non-profit contractor, the Program Manager. CP 173 § 17. The Ordinance states, "The Program Manager's duties, subject to the approval of the Ratepayers at each annual meeting, will be to manage the day-to-day operations of the MID and to administer the projects and activities." *Id.* The Program Manager determines the specific services to be provided. CP 163–64 § 5. The Program Manager is chosen through the recommendation of the private citizens on the Ratepayer Advisory Board. CP 171–73 §§ 15, 17.

The Program Manager submits a proposed work plan and budget to the Ratepayer Advisory Board for recommendation, and the ratepayers vote whether to approve it at an annual meeting. CP 106; *see* CP 171 § 15. Upon approval, the proposed budget and work plan are sent to the City. CP 106.

4. Special Assessments and MID Programs

Under the Ordinance, the City collects special assessments, which are deposited with the City treasury. CP 164 § 6. The contracted Program Manager submits documentation to the City, which authorizes expenditures permitted under the Ordinance. CP 169 § 9; CP 171 § 14. The Ordinance provides a non-exclusive list of programs that special assessment revenues may be spent on: "Clean Services," "Safety Outreach and Hospitality, including Law Enforcement," "Marketing and Communications Services," "Businesses Development and Market Research Services," "Transit, Bike and Parking Services" and "Management." CP 163–64 § 5.

C. DBIA Services

DBIA Services ("DBIA") has been acting as the contracted Program Manager since the MID was created in 1999, and the Ratepayer Advisory Board has consistently recommended retaining DBIA at the Board's annual meeting. CP 106. DBIA is a 501(c)(6) private non-profit

corporation. CP 104. DBIA is affiliated with the Downtown Seattle Association ("DSA"), a private non-profit corporation first founded in 1958. CP 103–04, 112–20. DSA has a governing Board of Directors, which oversees DSA and affiliated organizations, including DBIA. CP 105. "DSA's senior leadership team includes DBIA's VP of Public Realm and Ambassador Operations, who oversees all DBIA operations." *Id.* None of the board members or leadership of DBIA (or DSA) are City employees or officials, and DSA's executive employees are responsible for DBIA's day-to-day operations. *Id.*

In addition to the Program Manager contract with the City (CP 107), DBIA has a separate contract with the City's Department of Parks and Recreation to provide management and programming for two public parks (CP 108), and it contracts with King County, the Seattle Department of Transportation, and Seattle Public Utilities for services such as litter abatement and graffiti removal (CP 108, 344).

D. Mr. Horvath's Records Requests

Members of the public can access records retained by the City regarding the MID, including the annual work plan and other documents, through public records requests directed to the City. *See* CP 109–10. Here, Mr. Horvath requested and received records from the City regarding the MID through a public records request. CP 98–102. Mr. Horvath then requested records from DBIA. CP 109. While DBIA maintained that, as a private nonprofit, it was not subject to the PRA, Mr. Horvath concedes that DBIA produced "most of the requested records." CP 43. The only requested information that DBIA did not provide was certain compensation information for employees of the DSA. CP 110.

E. Superior Court Proceedings

Mr. Horvath filed a Complaint against DBIA Services, alleging violations of the Public Records Act. CP 1. Ruling on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, the superior court issued a detailed 12-page order, determining that DBIA is

not subject to the PRA. CP 734–45. The court concluded that, while the funding factor weighed in favor of functional equivalence, the remaining factors weighed against applying the PRA to DBIA:

Having considered the factors on balance, even construing the [PRA] liberally in favor of the fullest possible records access, the Court concludes the factors do not weigh in favor of PRA coverage. The factors regarding governmental function and city involvement in day-to-day functioning are the most persuasive to the Court. They strongly weigh against PRA coverage. This conclusion is also supported by the last factor, government creation, which also weighs against PRA coverage. Finally, while the Court finds the funding factor weighs in favor of functional equivalency, it does not do so convincingly. The Court is persuaded that the factors demonstrate that DBIA Services is not a private surrogate for the City, but is a government contractor not subject to the PRA. Overall, the Court is satisfied that impermissible avoidance of the PRA is not shown.

CP 742. The superior court entered a declaratory judgment in favor of DBIA, holding that DBIA is not subject to the PRA. CP 745.

F. Court of Appeals Decision

Mr. Horvath appealed the superior court's order. On appeal, Petitioner's argument depended almost entirely on its incorrect conflation of DBIA Services (a private nonprofit entity contracting with the City) with the MID (a parking and business improvement assessment area created by City ordinance). E.g., Appellant's Br. at 15 (arguing superior court erred by analyzing whether DBIA is subject to PRA); id. at 18 (arguing MID created by ordinance); id. at 37 (arguing Ordinance obligates MID to perform government functions); id. at 51, 56 (arguing out of state authority supports position that MID should be subject to PRA). Petitioner's briefing did not apply the four *Telford* factors to Respondent DBIA Services, but to the MID. E.g., id. at 17–18, 30, 37.

This conflation of the MID and DBIA was the focus of the briefing and oral argument. ² The Court of Appeals properly rejected this conflation, affirming the trial court's conclusion that the MID was a geographic assessment area, not a separate entity.

By concluding that the Metropolitan Improvement District is a geographic area, and is not an actor, the trial court determined that the District was not an entity capable of taking action and therefore was not itself capable of creating or possessing public records as defined by the Public Records Act. Moreover, the party identified in both Horvath's complaint and the case caption in this matter further suggest that the entity that was alleged to be "acting the shoes in government" was DBIA Services, not the geographic area identified by ordinance the Metropolitan as Improvement District. Thus, the trial court did not err by analyzing this case based on the actor in question—DBIA Services—rather than based on a business improvement area incapable

_

² Division 1 Court of Appeals, Argument April 19, 2024, available at https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2024041195?eventID=2024041195.

of creating or possessing public records.

Horvath v. DBIA Servs., 31 Wn. App. 2d 549, 573, 551 P.3d 1053 (2024). The Court of Appeals also noted that Horvath had sued DBIA Services, and therefore its status under the PRA was before the court on appeal:

Horvath next contends that "[a]ny argument focused solely on DBIA Services' status under the *Telford* test is simply not relevant in resolving this issue." Reply Br. of Appellant at 8. that However, given Horvath submitted the records request in question to the Downtown Seattle Association requesting records about the Metropolitan Improvement District from DBIA Services, whether DBIA Services is an agency under the act and thus must respond to Horvath's requests or else face imposition of penalties—is plainly relevant appeal.

Id. at 574.

The Court of Appeals also determined that the appropriate standard of review was abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 563. Applying this standard, the court concluded the superior court's "well-

reasoned" 12-page written findings and conclusions "properly applied the law to [the] facts." *Id.* at 570.

III. ARGUMENT

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals analyzes a fact-specific inquiry: whether DBIA Services, a private nonprofit hired by contract to act as a program manager for a parking and business improvement area, is subject to the PRA. As both the superior court and Court of Appeals recognized, the clear answer to this question is no. Under the legal standard adopted by this Court in *Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo*, 187 Wn.2d 509, 532, 387 P.3d 690 (2017), and the undisputed facts, the result would be the same under either an abuse of discretion or de novo standard of review. This Court's review is not warranted.

A. The *Telford* Standard

The PRA is not intended "to sweep within PRA coverage every private organization that contracts with government." *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d 509 at 532. Subjecting a private entity to the PRA is only appropriate in limited circumstances where a

private entity has "effectively assumed the role of government." *Id.* at 526.

To determine whether a private entity is the "functional equivalent" of a public agency and subject to the PRA, courts employ the four-factor *Telford* test. *Id.* at 523 (adopting *Telford* as the test for determining "functional equivalence" under the PRA). The *Telford* test is a "practical" and fact-specific analysis where each organization "must be examined anew and in its own context." *Woodland Park Zoo v. Fortgang*, 192 Wn. App. 418, 427, 368 P.3d 211 (2016) (quotation and citation omitted), *aff'd*, 187 Wn.2d 509, 387 P.3d 690 (2017).

Under *Telford*, the court balances four considerations:

- (1) whether the entity performs a governmental function;
- (2) the level of government funding;
- (3) the extent of government involvement or regulation; and
- (4) whether the entity was created by government.

Fortgang, 187 Wn.2d at 517–18; Telford v. Thurston Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs, 95 Wn. App. 149, 162, 974 P.2d 886 (1999). The

outcome turns on whether "the criteria on balance should suggest that the entity in question is the functional equivalent of a state or local agency" in light of the purposes of the statute, and no one factor is dispositive. *Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter*, 144 Wn. App. 185, 192, 181 P.3d 881 (2008); *see* Wash. AGO 2002 No. 2. The court's interpretation of the PRA must "be grounded in the PRA's underlying policy" and avoid absurd results. *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Auth.*, 177 Wn.2d 417, 431, 327 P.3d 600 (2013).

Here, both the superior court and the appellate court properly applied the *Telford* test to the particular facts of this case, which were uncontested. Both courts carefully applied the law to the undisputed facts and reached a determination grounded in the PRA's underlying policy: DBIA Services is not subject to the PRA.

B. This Court Should Deny the Petition

Petitioner's sole argument for this Court's review is that the Court of Appeals erred by determining that the superior court's determination should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Petition at 3.

As the Court of Appeals' Opinion acknowledges, both parties argued below that review of the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment was de novo. *Horvath*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 558; Resp. Br. at 20–21.

However, it is clear from the Court of Appeals' opinion that, regardless of the standard of review applied, DBIA Services is not the functional equivalent of a public agency subject to the PRA. For example, the Court of Appeals determined that the superior court erred in determining that the agency funding factor weighed in favor of functional equivalence. *Horvath*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 571 n. 18. Nonetheless, the Court noted that this error "does not change the outcome of this matter." *Id.* The appellate court's opinion does not indicate any other disagreement with the superior court's analysis as to any other factor, and the superior court determined each of the remaining three *Telford* factors weighed *against* functional equivalence. CP 742. Accordingly,

whether reviewed for an abuse of discretion or de novo, the outcome is the same: DBIA Services is not subject to the PRA.

Further, the dispositive question in this case was not the standard of review, but whether the *Telford* factors should be applied to the "MID," as Petitioner claimed, or DBIA Services, the entity to which he directed his records request and the entity he sued. *See, e.g.*, Appellant's Br. at 17 ("Throughout the litigation before the trial court, Mr. Horvath sought to hold MID BIA—not DBIA—subject to the PRA."). As both the superior court and the Court of Appeals correctly decided, the fact-specific *Telford* analysis must be applied to DBIA Services. *Horvath*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 573–74. Analyzed appropriately on the uncontested facts, DBIA Services is plainly not directly subject to the PRA.

IV. CONCLUSION

This case does not warrant this Court's review. Under any standard of review, the undisputed facts and well-established law demonstrate that the entity named as the defendant in this lawsuit—DBIA Services—is not the functional equivalent of a public agency or directly subject to the Public Records Act under *Telford*. The petition for review should be denied.

* * *

<u>RAP 18.17(b)</u> Certificate of Compliance with Word Limitations: The undersigned attorneys certify that this pleading contains 2,833 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17(c).